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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

12 PERCENT LOGISTICS, INC., et al.,

Plaintiff s,

UNIFIED CARRIER REGISTRATION
PLAN BOARD, etal.

)
)
)
)
V. ) Case No. 17cv-02000(APM)
)
)
)
)
Defendant. )

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

On September 14, 201DefendantJnified Carrier Registration Plan Boaf@oard”) held
a meeting in which it decided to postpone $itertof the annual registration period for motor
carriers, brokers, and freight forwardémsm October 1, 2017, to November 1, 200The Board
adopted he 30day postponemento give the Secretary of Transportation more time to ae on
rate reduction proposal that the Boduad submitted to the Secretary six months earlier. The
manner in which the Board noticed the September 14th meditingot complywith federal law.
Under the Sunshine Act, 5 U.S.C. 8 55#ie Board was required fmublicly announce meeting
information Although the Board notified prior Boardeeting attergks of theSeptember 14th
meeting it failed topublish information regardinghe meeting’stime, location, and subject matter
in the Federal Registeas required by the Sunshine A€bliowing the Board's actiorDefendant
Indiana Department oRevenue which administers the website on whiemtities register,
complied with the Board’'s30-day postponement and delayed the start of the fee and registration

collection period.
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Plaintiffs 12 Percent Logistics, In@and the Small Business in Transportatidoaltion, a
registrant and trade group representing registraespectively,filed suit against the Boaraind
thelndiana Department of Revenue and its Commissioner, Adam J.,Kmupp official capacity
They allege that they did notceive notice of th&epember 14th meetingndclaim the 30day
postponement of the registration dagegms them Now before the court i®laintiffs’ Motion for
Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injuncgtionwhich Plaintiffsask this courto enter
an injunction that (1) reverses the Board’s postponement of the registration date and compels the
Board and thetwo state defendants (collectively “INDORt immediately begin accepting
registrations and fees payments, ando(yvents th&oard fromfuture Sunshine Acviolations

The court concludes that Plaintiffs are not entitled talthsticrelief they seek. Although
Plaintiffs have demonstrated that they are likely to prove that the Boatedidlee Sunshine Act
when it failed to give proper noticef the September 14th meetinghe Sunshine Act does not
authorize tk court toinvalidate the Board’'s decision to postpone the registration date. The court
alsofinds that enjoinng the Board fronviolating the Sunshine Adh the futureis unwarranted
whenPlantiffs have identified only one prior violation Instead the appropriate remedy for the
Board's violation is to compel the Board to make public records memoriakzimat transpired at
the nonrconforming meeting. The couthereforeprdess the Board to immediately disclose all
draft minutes, transcriptgndrecordings of th&eptember 14th meeting

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ Motion is granted in part and denied in part.

BACKGROUND

The Unified CarrierRegistration {UCR”) program is afedeally createdsystem for
registering and collecting feesom motor carriers,motor private carriers, brokergreight

forwarders and leasing companiewhose commercial vehicles travel in interstate comme3ee



49 U.S.C. 814504a. The UCR program isverseen and implemented by ami&mber board of
directors (the Board”) appointed by the Secretary of TransportatiSee id§ 14504a(d)(1). The
Board's primary function is to implement the “UCR Agreement,” an iraérsagreement that
governs the collection and distribution of fees paid by motor carriers and otleed entitie s
and registration and financial responsibility informatioBee id.8 14504a(a)(8) (d)(2) Those
businesses register withe UCR and pay fees annually, and that reveisueuted back to the
states that have opted into the registration systésn.§14504a(f)(4), (h). Forty-one states
participate in the UCR Agreemeffiut the District of Columbia does not appear to be one of them
SeeDef.’s Opp’n, ECF No. 25Ex. 1, ECFNo. 251 [hereinafteldefferson Decl.], 8; seeUNIFIED
CARRIER REGISTRATIONSYS., IN GOV UCR Applicatiorhttps://www.ucr.in.gov/ucrHome.html
(last visited Oct. 17, 2017) (identifying the District of Columbia asamparticipating” statg

The rates charged tdCR registrants are set by the Secretary of Transportation based on
the Board's recommendationgl9 U.S.C8 14504a(d)(7). Whenever the Board proposes a change
to the annual rates, the Secretary is statutorily required to provide aotitan opportunity for
publc comment and to act on the Boamksommendation within 90 daydd. § 14504a(d)(7)
The UCR Plampays DefendarntNDOR to operate the programigegistration website fahe states
thathave opted into the systenseeCompl., ECF No. 1 [hereinafter Compl]8-9; Compl.,
Attach. 1, ECF No. 11 [hereinafter Pls.” Exs,Jat 3743, 44-55 (Exs. 3 & 4)

At a meetingheld on March 14, 2017, the Board voted to recomméiad the Secretary
change theatesto be charged 2018 and 2019 Compl. §25. The proposed rates were lower
than those charged in recent yeatd movethe Boardsaid at oral argument w@romptedby the
concern thathe current fee structuré continued,would cause the Board txceed the amount

of moneyit is lawfully permitted to hold.See49 U.S.C. 814504a(h)(3), (4)Hr'g Tr. (draft), Oct.



12, 2017, aB9. The new rate proposahowever stalledin the hands of th8ecretarywho took
no formalactionwithin the statutorily mandated @&y period aftethe Board's recommendation.
Compl. 11726, 30.

To give theSecretary more time to athe Boardconveneda meeting onSeptember 14,
2017 andvotedto delay the start of the annual UCR registration period by 30 daysipl. 127.
The Board neither publicly announced nor submitted for publication in the Fé&sgister any
information about the September 14th meetihgt did send an-mail to past Boardneeting
attendeesJefferson Decl. 1.9The Board's decision shifteitie stat of registrationfor the coming
calendar yeafrom October 1, asalled forby the UCR Agreemento November 1 Pls.” Exs. at
13t (Ex. 2). But because the Boaxd not push back the December,32017, enddate for
registration, theaction compressed the registration period from three months to two months
Compl. 129, The Board directe®efendantNDOR, which accepregistrations and collesfees
on the Board’s behathrough a stateun website o postponethe opening date faregistration.
Id. 118, 33 Jefferson Decl.  10The Indiana Department of Revenue compliggiompl. I 32—
33, 70.

Upsetby the Board’s Sunshine Actiolation andits decision to postpone thatart of
registration Plaintiffs filed a fourcount Complainton September 27, 2017. Counallegesthat
the Board violated the Sunshine Actwhen it failed to properly notic8etpember 14th meeting
SeeCompl. 11 345 Count llallegesthat the Board violated the AdministratiMerocedure Act
(“APA”), 5U.S.C.8 706, by holding the inadequately noticed meeti@ompl. 946-51 In
Count Ill, the Plaintiffs assertthat the Board'sdecision todelay the registration period was

arbitrary and capricious, whidisoviolated the APA.Id. 1152-63. Lastly,Count IV allegesthat

1 The pin cite here is to the electronic page number genersitdte ECF docketing system.
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INDOR acted“unlawfuly” by postponing UCR registration unti November 1 becauseas
obligated to begin accepting renewals and fees on Octgbendér the terms of the UCR
Agreement Id. 1116471 (As discussed below,ld&ntiffs subsequently abandon€dunts Il and
[ll, and now proceed only as to Counts | ang IV.

Plaintiffs simultaneously movedor a temporary restraining order armmeliminary
injunction against the Bard. Theyask the court to reverse the Board's decision to postpone the
registration period, enjoin the Board from futur@ations of the Sunshine Act, and ordDOR
to accept UCR registrations and fee payments on Octob8edPls.” Mot. for TRO & Prelim.
Inj., ECFNo. 2[hereinafter Pls.” Mot.]

The Boardopposed Plaintiffs’ motioA. In their reply brief, Plaintif abandoned their APA
claims, conceding that that the Board is not an “agency” subject to the reapiseof the APA.
Pls.” Reply, ECF No. 29, at201. After Plaintiffs’ Motion was fully briefed, the court heard oral
argument on October 12, 2017.

1. DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiffs’ Claim against the Board

Ordinarily, when faced wh a requesfior preliminary injunctive relief of the kind sought
in Count I, the court would evaluateatdemand usinghe familiar fourpart equitable standard
setforth in Winter v. Natural Resources Defense Council,, & U.S. 7 (2008). The court does
not strictly follow that traditional course heraoweverpecause both the Sunshine Actitself and
binding precedent circumscribe the types of equitable relief available violation of the Act, as

well as the circumstancesmderwhich a court may grant such relief. Thus, the court first corssider

2INDOR filed a notice of appearance butenterétlatice of No Response” on Plaintiffs’ Motion. ECF No. 26.

3The court expresses no view on the accuracy of Plaintiffsitipa.
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whether Plaintiffs have demonstrated a substantial likelhood of suoceBewing a Sunshine
Act violation before turning tavhat, if any, equitable relief is ammpriate for such a violation.

1. Whether Plaintiffs ldve Demonstrated a Likelihood of SuccesslogirT
Sunshine Act Claim

The Board is required to follow particular steps to notify the public whearispb hold a
meeting during which members might determinedieposeof official agency business The
Swshine Act requires that, at least one week beforénpold “meeting’ anagency “make [a]
public announcement .. . of the time, place, and subject matter of thegnednether it is to be
open or closed to the public, and the name and phone number of the official designated by the
agency to respond to requests for inforomatabout thaneeting” 5U.S.C.8552b(e)(1). The Act
further requires that, “[immediately following each publc announceimdahg agency must
submit the same information contained in the public announcement for publicative Federal
Register. Id. § 552b(e)(3). The Sunshine Acthereforecommands federal agencies to provide
the public with notice of both the meeting’'s logistics and anticipated subject matiéns
obligation extends to the Board9U.S.C. §14504a(d)(4)(D).

There is no real dispute that the Board failed to conform to the Acegingenotice
requirements. The Boards declarant, Daphne Jefferson, a member of the Board, explains that,
although a notice to announce the meeting had been drafted, “the noticet wablished in the
Federal Register prior to the meeting due to unanticipated delays in the evibwapproval
process within [the Department of TransportationjJefferson Decl. 1.9 The Board did not,
however,completely disregards notice obligabns. In lieu of a formal public noticeand
publication in the Federal Register, the Board sentmaieto previous meeting participants that
(1) notified them of the meeting’s date and tir(® provided them an access code to participate

in the meetig, which was to be heltelephonically and (3) attacheds a separate documean



agenda for the meetingsee id.Although it is possible that the Boardésmail satisfied the Act’s
“public announcement” requiremergee5 U.S.C. $52b(e)(1) (lacking a definition of “public
announcement;) there is no question thdte Boardviolated the Sunshine Act whenfailed to
submit the required meeting information for publication in the Federal Regises id.
8 552b(e)(3). Therefore Plaintiffs have estaished that they are likely to succeed on the merit
of their Sunshine Act claim.
2. What Equitable Relief is Appropriate for Plaintiffs’ Sunshine Act Claim

Turning then to the remedies available for a Sunshine Act violation, thes@ltpirovides
the starting poih4 The SunshineAct contains two subsectiorteat address the availabilty and
propriety of remedies. Those subsedistate in relevant part:

(1) The district courts of the United States shall have jurisdiction to
enforce the requirements of subsections (b) through (f) of this
section by declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or other relief as
may be appropriate. . .. In such actions arifet shall serve his
answer within thirty days after the service of the complaint. The
burden is on the defendant to sustain his action. . . . The court,
having due regard for orderly administration and the public interest,
as well as the interests thie parties, may grant such equitable relief
as it deems appropriate, including granting an injunction against
future violations of this section or ordering the agency to make
available to the public such portion of the transcript, recording, or
minutes ofa meeting [unless otherwise authorized to be withheld
under the Act].

(2) Any Federal court otherwise authorized by law to review agency
action may, at the application of any person properly participating
in the proceeding pursuant to other applicakle/, inquire into

violations by the agency of the requirements of this section and

* The court harbors some doubt as to whether the Board is stabjee Sunshine Act's remedial provisions. The
Sunshine Actitself applies only to “agencies,” as thatterefinat in the APASees U.S.C. § 552b(a)j1 Plaintiffs
have conceded, however, that the Board is notan “agengyifposes ofthe APA. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs maintain
that the Sunshine Act’'s remedial provisions apply because theefimys of the [Bloard” are subject to the
requirements fthe Sunshine ActSee49 U.S.C. § 14504a(d)(4)(D)The fact that the Board’'s “meetings” must
comply with the Sunshine Adhoughdoes not necessarily mean that the Board is an “agency” stabjeetAct's
remedies. Again, those remedial provisiarsapplicable only against“agencies,” andthe Board is nageancy”
according to Plaintiffs. In any event, the Board has ndiecigged the applicability of the Sunshine Act’'s remedil
provisions to it, so the coualssumes their applicatidrere.
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afford such relief as it deems appropriate. Nothing in this section

authorizes any Federal court having jurisdiction solely on the basis

of paragraph (1) to set aside, enjoin, or invaldate any agency action

(other than an action to close a meeting or to withhold information

under this section) taken or discussed at any agency meeting out of

which the violation of this section arose
5U.S.C. 88552b(h)(1), (2). Taken tdumt subsections (h)(1) and (h)(2) define the circumstances
and scope of appropriate equitable relief available for a violation @uhghineAct. For cases
arising under subsection (h)(1), the appropriate relief for a violatiotheoSunshine Act isot
compel theagency to release information that would inform the public about what trahsyire
the norconforming meeting. This is gleaned from the text of subsection (h)(1)h expressly
authorizesa cout to order this type okquitablerelief, and theimitations onremediescontained
in subsection (h)(2).If a federal court’s jurisdiction to review the agency’s compliance thiéh
Sunshine Act arises only under subsection (h){tig¢n the federal court lacks theower to
invalidate the agency action taken at the fmmmforming meeting.Id. § 552b(h)(2). On the other
hand, acourt whose jurisdiction arises umdsubsection (h)(2possesssbroaderauthority to
award “such equitable relief as it deems approptiatd. That might include vacating an agency
action taken at a neronforming meeting because, unlke as with subsection (h)(1), the statute
does not expressly forbid a court from vacating an agency action takenoatanforming
meeting Butthe D.C.Circuit has cautioned that such drastic relief is the exception rather than the
rule. In Pan American World Airwaydnc. v. Civil Aeronautics Boardhe Circuit, interpreting
the court’s authority under subsection (h)(2), observed that the Sunshine rémiljsindicates a
congressional policy that release of transcripts, not invalidation afggecy’s substantive action,
shall be the normal remedy for Sunshine Act violations.” 684 F.2d 31, 36 & n.10GD.C982)

The more sweepingremedyof invalidating the agency action, ti&cuit explained, is reserved

for violations of a “serious nature” that are intentional and “prejudicahée rights of any person



participating in the review proceeding.fd. at 36. Thus,although the Sunshine Act commands
that agencies abide by its transparency measures, it grants courts the ptnikeragency action
because of violations only in rare cases.

Applying the foregoing legal principles here, the court concludes that it caambttige
injunctive reliefPlaintiffs seeKor two primary reasonsFirst, the courtoncludes thait only has
jurisdiction under sibsection (h)(1) No one disputes that this court has jurisdiction to hear
Plaintiffs’ Sunshine Act claim under subsection (h){d3tead, the fight is over whether the court
also possesses jurisdiction undenbsection (h)(2) because that is the remedial provision that
would allow this courto vacate the Board’'s postponement of the registration peAdittough
Plaintiffs urge the court to find it has jurisdiction under subsection (hhy,have not identified
any “law” that“otherwise authorize[s]” the court to revidhe Board's failure to provide adequate
public notice of theSeptember 14th meetingnd, then, provide the requested reliegg U.S.C.

8§ 552b(h)(2); cf. Pan AmWorld Airways 684 F.2d at 36.10(noting that the court’s jurisdiction
arose not under the Sunshine Act, but under-ifefffect 49 U.S.C. § 1486(a), thus allowing the
court to review the agency's action under subsection (h)(2hdeed, Plaintiffs expressly
disclaimed that the Administrative Procedure Act applies to the BeaeR]s.” Reply, at @11,
and have identified no other federal statute that otherwise authorizesuttieta review the
Board’'s norcompliance with the Sunshine Aartany of its other actionsThis failure to identify

a federal law that authorizes review #@di to Plaintiffs’ request for the undoing of the Board's
vote. Additionally, although the statute limitsemedial relief underubsection (h)(2) to persons
who “properly participat[ed] in the proceeding pursuant to other applicablé rawher Plaintiff
claims to have paitipated in the September 14th meetinthis, too, is fatalAt oral argument,

Plaintiffs argued that readingubsection (h)(2)'s “participation” requirement to mean that only



actual participants to a naonforming proceeding could seek relief under that subsection would
be absurd, because it would mean, for instance, that persons who had no knowledgetiofga m
due toa failure to provide public notice would be disqualified from seeking reliefrisuthsection
(h)(2). SeeHrg Tr. (draft), Oct. 12, 2017, ai. Consequently,Plaintiffs assertthat the
“participation” requiremenin subsection(h)(2) must be read to reach any party aggrievea by
violation of the Sunshine Act. Plaintiffs may be right that reading “partioiga to mean actual
participation might lead to some unfair results, but the court cannot ignerpelain text and
structure of the statute. Subsection (h)(1) broadly permits “any persorékoedief against the
agency, but subsection (h)(2) is farrower allowing only those“properly participating in the
proceeding pursuant to other applicable law” to seek relief under that swaseéidoptng
Plaintiffs’ reading of subsection (h)(2) would erase that clear teditaiction, a resultthatthe
court cannot accept. Thuinding that neither Plaintiff participated in the Septemidth
meeting Plaintiffs’ Sunshine Act claim cannatrise under subsection (h)(2)and the court is
powerless to grant Plaintiffs’ requested relief.

Second, eveif Plaintiffs have shown eligibility for relief under subsection (h)(2), they
have not demonstrated the kind of “serious” violation of the Sunshine Act that wouldntva
invalidating the Board's action. The Board concedes that its efforts ioizaulthe meeting fell
short of the Sunshine Act’s requirements. Yet, the Board cannot be said thurakiedits nose
atthe spirit of the Sunshine Act. The Board did provide notice of the meetihglingcits subject
matter, by email to those who had previoushattended Boaraneetings. Was that-mail a
substitute for the Sunshine Act's requirements? Of course not. Buintld, evhile deficient
under the statuteells the court that the Board appreciated its Sunshine Act obligatimeed,

Plairtiffs have cited no otheinstanceof a Sunshine Act violatierand attempted to mitigate its
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noncompliance by communicating information about the meeting to the people most likely to
have aninterest in attendirdhose who attended Board meetingshe @st Thisis not the kind

of “serious” violation of the Sunshine Attat warrarg invalidating anagency action.Cf. Pan
Am World Airways 684 F.2d at 367 (finding that the unlawful closure to the public of an
emergency meeting constituted a “serious” violatiomjloreover,Plaintiffs have notshown how
their rights were prejudiced by thHBoard's Sunshine Act violation. The inadequate notice
arguably denied Plaintiffs the opportunity to participate inrtigeting, but Plaintiffs have not
offered any reason to believe that, had the Board issued a meetingtmaticemplied with the
Sunshine ActPlaintiffs would have attended the meeting,amdurn,the Board likely would not
have postponed the registration date by 30 dapsenta showing oprejudice other than missing
the meeting itself, Plaintiffs are not entitled to the drastimedy of strikihg the Board’s action.
See Pan AmWorld Airways 684 F.2d at 3637. Accordingly, this is not one dhe rare cases in
which a Sunshine Act violation would warrant nulifying an agency action.

In light of the foregoing, the coudoks tosubsection (h)(1) for guidance on the appropriate
relief in this matter. Underubsection (h)(1), the appropriatemredy for the Board’s violation of
the Sunshine Act is to compel the Boswdelease to the public any draft minutes, transcripts or
recordings of thé&September 14th meetingSees U.S.C. &52b(h)(1); Pan Am World Airways
684 F.2d aB6-37. According to the Board's declarant, Daphne Jefferson, draft minutde of t
September 14th meetingave been prepared and circulated to the Board for approval dtsring
October meeting, which is set for October 26, 20The Board shall immediately makieose
draft minutespublicly available, as well as amtganscriptsor recordings othe September 14th
meeting The court, however, declines to enjoin the Board from committing any futuréorda

of the Sunshine Act. Plaintiffs have cited only a single violation oAthédy the Board, and that

11



violation is hardly egregiousin short, Plaintiffs offer no basis for this court to believe thet
Board is likely to engage in future violations of the &wtt would justify prospective injunctive
relief.

B. Plaintiffs’ Claim against the Indiana De partment of Revenue

That leave Plaintiffs' requested relief againgiefendants INDORPIaintiffs contend that
by following in the footsteps of the Board atuhlawfully” delaying the start of the annual
registration periodNDOR violated the UCR Agreement and caused them irreparable harm.
Compl. 170-71; Pls.” Mem. at 1415. Theyask the court to orddNDOR to immediately begin
accepting UCR registrations and fe&eeCompl., Attach. 1, ECF No., \t 3743, 4455 (Exs.

3 & 4). Thus,just as they did against the Board, Plaintiffs ask the coussigeean injunction
against INDOR. The court declines to do°so.

Plaintiffs’ claim against INDOR requires an analysigder hefamiliar, equitable standard
for injunctive relief. Preliminary mjunctive relief is an “extraordinary and drastic remedy” that is
granted only when warranted, and “never. as [a matter] of right.” Munaf v. Geren553 U.S.
674, 68990 (2008)(citations and internal quotations omittedPnly whena plaintiff makes a
clear showing that it is entitled to relief may the court grant thisaenxdinary remedy.Winter,

555 U.S.at 22 This requires the plaintifito show four things: (1) it is likely to succeed on the
merits; (2) it is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absehpeaiminary relief; (3) the balance
of equities tips inits favor; and (4) an injunction is in the public’'s interesdl. at20, Davis v.
Pension BeefitGuar. Corp,571 F3d 1288, 1291 (D.C. Cir. 2009)The first inquiry, concerning

the success on the merits, includes demonstrating a likelihood on tresswafcestablishing

°INDOR has yet to offer an opposition to Plaintiff's Motiartafor that reason, Plaintiffs ask the court to treat their
Motion as conceded as to INDOR and grant the requested rEtiefcourt declines to do so because, as explained
below, Plaintiffs hae not shown a likelihood of success on the threshold quesftpersonal jurisdiction.
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jurisdiction. See Food & Water Watch, Inc. v. Vilsa8k8 F.3d 905, 91314 (D.C. Cir. 2015)
Plaintiffs’ case foundrs at the firsand thirdinquires—their likelihood of succeson the merits
and showing irreparable harm
1. Whether Plaintiffs Have Demonstrated a Likelihood of Success on the Merits

Plaintiffs have notestablished a “substantial likelihood” that this court has personal
jurisdiction overINDOR, and thus, a likelhood of success on the mefiiise court’'s exercise of
personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant turntheoDistrict of Columbia long-arm
statute the constitutional requirements of due procesmssl the defendant’'s own actiorSeeGTE
New Media Servs. Inc. v. BellSouth Cod®9 F.3d 1343, 1347 (D.C. Cir. 2000As relevant
here, he longarm statute permitBistrict of Columbia courts to exercisspecific jurisdiction over
apersonwho is “transacting any business in the District of Columbia” and wbostcts with
the District of Columbiagive rise to the claim at hand.C. Code§ 13-423a)(1), (b} Gorman v.
Ameritrade HoldingCorp., 293 F.3d 506, 509 (D.C. Cir. 2002)A plaintiff who satisfies the
long-arm statute also must show that exercise of personal jurisdictianthis the permissible
bounds of the Due Process Claustee GTE New Media Serv$99 F.3dat 1347 That is, the
plaintiff must show that the defdant has such contacts with the forum that it should reasonably
anticipate by haled into court therdéd. For cases, like this one, where jurisdiction is asserted
under the “transacting business” prong of the -lang statute, the statutory and constiué |
inquiries collapse into one, as that prong “generaly has been interpretectdextensive with
the Constitution’s due process requirementsl’”

Plaintiffs contend that there is a substantial likelihood that tbisrtchas personal

jurisdiction orer INDOR because the state “transadmisiness” in this jurisdiction. For support,

% Plaintiffs do not contend thatthe court can exercieaégal jurisdiction” oveiNDOR. Cf. Pls.’ Resp. to the Court’s
Order to Show Cause, ECF No. 11, at 3.
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they point to the fact that INDOR operates an online portal, accessibla the District of
Columbia, for local motor carriers and others to register and make payn@s#Rls.” Resp. to
the Court’'s Order to Show Cause, ECF No. 11, aP&intiffs supplement their allegations of
INDOR'’s contacts with the District of Columbiavith a document titled “UCR 2017 State
Percentages,” which purports to sho®b0 “complant” “USDC” registrants and 127
“noncompliant” “USDC”entities. See id(citing PlIs.” Mot., Ex. 9, ECF No.-2, at 3.7

Such meager evidencat this point,does not convince the court that Plaintiffs are likely
to succeed in establishing personal jurisdicton over INDORhether a website provides
sufficient contacts foa court to exercisgurisdiction often turns on whether the website is
“passive,” such as the mere communicator of information,interactive,” such as allowing for
some baclandforth with the user.SeeGTE New Media Servsl99 F.3d at 134 (holding ah
specfific jurisdiction “surely cannot be basaiely on the ability of District residents to accdiss
defendants’ websites, for this does not by itself show any persistent cowserdatt by the
defendants”) Triple Up Ltd. v. Youku Tul, Inc., 235 F. Supp. 3d 15, 224 (D.D.C. 2017)
(collecting cases)cf. FC Inv. Grp. LC v. IFX Markets, Ltdb29F.3d1087, 1092 (D.C. Cir. 2008)
(holding thata court may exercise general jurisdiction over a defendant due to itsewie bisi
website is Ihteractive” and District residents use the website in a “continuoussystematic”
way) (internal citation omitted)

Plaintiffs’ assertion that INDOR’s websitgives this courtpersonal jurisdiction over
INDOR falls shortfor two reasons. First, the abwoes not have sufficient evidence before it to
definitely conclude that District of Columbia residents use the IND@Bsite. Plaintiffs’ only

support for evidence of District residents’ use of the website is the “ROZR State Percentages’

"The pin cite here is to the electronic page number genersitde ECF docketing system.
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document,but that document merely suggests that some District residents havereegistder
the UCR Plan and others have nét.does not clearly establish any website activity by District
residents.Moreover, wile Plaintiffs insist that District of Columbia residemiSactregister and
pay feesthrough the INDOR website, the INDOR webstte itself igentihe District of Columbia
as a “norparticipating state” in the UCR syste®edN GOV UCR Applicatin,UNIFIED CARRIER
REGISTRATION Sys., https://www.ucr.in.gov/ucrHome.html (last visited Oct. 17, 201Yy
(identifying the District of Columbia as “‘aon-participating” state);UCR Participating State
Contact List UNIFIED CARRIER REGISTRATION Sys., https//www.ucr.in.gov/MC S/
StateContactList.pdflast visited Oct. 17, 201{excluding any contact for a District of Columbia
representative from th&JCR Participating State Contact List”). Thus, based on the paucity of
evidence before itthe courtis unconvincedthat District residents even use the INB@vebsite.
Second, even if District residentlo use the website, the INDOR website appears to be a largely
“passive” website. Based on the court’s review, the website appebesidargely inforrational,
containing links to registration instructipnforms, and information about the UCR systenne
website does contain links that call for user names and passwordsis hwiciear what purpose
those web pages serve&see, e.gIN GOV UCR Applicton, UNIFIED CARRIER REGISTRATION
Svs., https://www.ucr.in.gov/ucrHome.htm{f{UCR Depository” tab) (last visited Oct. 17, 2017)
Admittedly, the website is “interactive” in the sense that it accepitnagns and fee payments,
but that is where theite€'s interactivity seems to end. There does not appear to be, for example,
any realtime customer assistance available through the site. Such limiteda@tivity” arguably
does not give INDOR sufficient contacts with the District of Columbiadnsitute “transacting

business” here.See Triple Up Ltd.235 F. Supp. 3d at 28. Thus, having failed to showhis
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stage thaP laintiffs are substantially likely to establish personal jurisdiction over IRDi®e court
cannot grant the injunctive relief that Plaintiffs seek against IND@ Rt reason alorfe.
2. Whether Plaintiffs Have Demonstrated Irreparable Harm

Addtionally, Plaintiffs request foinjunctive reliefis urwarranted becaugkey have failed
to demonstratereparable harmTo show irreparable harm, a plaintiff must demonstrate injury that
is “both certain and great, actual and not theoretical, beyond remediatibof sauch imminence
that there is a clear and present need for equitable relief to prevent irregenabl” Mexichem
Specialty Resins, Inc. v. EPA7 F.3d 544, 555 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (emphasis and internal quotation
marks omitted). In their memorandum and at oral argumetaintiffs offered a variety of reasons
why INDOR'’s action has or Wicause thenirreparable harm, namely thidie postponementl)
preventdlaintiffs from being able to register before November 1, 202)exposes Plaintiffs tthe
risk of enforcement actioifi they fail to register within the compressed tinmarhe;and(3) delays
the disbursement of fees to participatintatSs foruse inroad safety programsee49 U.S.C.
§ 14504a(e)(1)(Buhich in turn will degrade roads and driving conditions for registrants

The harms to which Plaintiffs poirdreinadequateto establishthe requisiteirreparable
harmbecause they atmth speculative and insubstantidirst, Raintiffs have not clarified how
theforced delay in theitJCR registration isanything more than a mere inconvenienc€f. Hr'g
Tr. (draft), Oct. 12, 2017, 46-23. After all, Plaintiffs stil wil be able to register, just not atithe

preferred time.Secondthe claim thatvould-be registrantsnight fail to register during the months

8 In briefing submitted after oralargument, Plaintiffgaed that the court has subject matter jurisdictiom foree

the UCR Agreement because it is an interstate compact and tbeenfstitutes federal lawseeNotice of Supp.
Auth., ECF No. 30. RysumablyPlaintiffs make that argument to convince the court thiadg subject matter
jurisdiction as to the claim against INDOR, notwithsiagdts sovereign immunity SeeVa. Office for Prot. &
Advocacy v. Stewa$63 U.S. 247, 255 (201{3tatingthat “when a federal court commands a state official to do
nothing more than refrain fromviolating federal law, hedsthe State for sovereigmmunity purposes”)Because
the court concludes it lacks personal jurisdiction oMBXDR, thecourt expreses no opinion on the question of
subject matter jurisdiction.
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of November and Decembemdwil then face penalties for their omissias,purely conjectural
The theoretical possibility of some future enforcement activity is ndkildeof imminent harm
that warrants injunctive reliefSeeChaplaincy of Full Gospel Churches v. Englaisi F.3d290,
297 (D.C. Cir. 2006) rioving party must show injury complained of is imminentkinally,
Plaintiffs’ assertion that the 3fay postponement wil delay distribution of fees to states and
thereby expas registrants to danger on tmeadwaysis not supported by any evidence, only
Plaintiffs’ speculation. Phintiffs provide no basis tbelieve that the abbreviated registration
period wil cause a delay in the disbursemehtfundsto stateslet alone that such a delay will
cause an imminentisk of harm on the nation’s roadways short, except for the inconvenience
of having to wait 30 days to register, Plaintiffs have not established any ara&ing from
INDOR'’s actiors, let alone irreparable harm.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court grants in part and denies in part Plaiatiie'stfor
injunctive reliefas to Count I. The Bod shalimmediately publish any draft mintes, transcripts
or recordhgs of the September 14th meetiog its welsite, orif it does not hava website on the
Department of Transportation's websit€he Boardalsoshall endeavor to publish such materials
on the Indiana Department of Revenue’s webbkitps://www.ucr.in.gov/ucrHome.htmlFinally,
at the Board meeting on October 26, 2017, the Board shall inform the public thatetecils
arepublicly available and where they may be foutlaintiffs’ request for injunctive relief against
INDOR isdenied.

A separate Order accompaniess fiemorandum Opinion.

A N

Dated: October 8, 2017 Amit P a
United States District Judge
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